The impact of COVID-19 on utilization of hospital services

A case study in rural Sierra Leone

D.M. (Daphne) Bussink-Voorend

Master of Science in International Health 2021

KIT Royal Tropical Institute Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam (VU)

August 2021

The impact of COVID-19 on utilization of hospital services; a case study in rural Sierra Leone

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science in International Health

by

D.M. (Daphne) Bussink-Voorend The Netherlands

Declaration:

Where other people's work has been used (from either a printed or virtual source, or any other source), this has been carefully acknowledged and referenced in accordance with academic requirements.

The thesis 'The impact of COVID-19 on utilization of hospital services; a case study in rural Sierra Leone' is my own work.

Signature:...

Master of International Health September 2015 – September 2021 KIT (Royal Tropical Institute)/Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam Amsterdam, The Netherlands

September 2021

Organised by:

KIT (Royal Tropical Institute) Amsterdam, The Netherlands In co-operation with:

Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam (VU) Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Table of contents

Chapter	Page
Cover Page	1
Declaration	2
Table of contents	3
List of tables, figures and graphs	4
Abbreviations	5
Abstract	6
1. Introduction	7
2. Background	8-11
2.1 Initial phase COVID-19 pandemic in Sierra Leone	8
2.2 Impact of an outbreak	9, 10
2.3 The Lion Heart Medical Centre	10, 11
3. Problem statement and justification	12, 13
3.1 Maternal Health	12
3.2 Child health	12, 13
3.3 Infectious diseases	13
3.4 Justification	13
4. Study questions	14
5. Objectives	15
6. Methods	16-20
6.1 Quantitative analysis LHMC hospital data	16-18
6.2 Literature review and analytical framework	19, 20
7. Results quantitative analysis	21-35
7.1 General hospital services	21-26
7.2 Maternal health	27
7.3 Child health	27-32
7.4 HIV and/or TB	32
7.5 Non-communicable diseases	33-35
8. Review of literature guided by the HBM	36-38
8.1 Perceived susceptibility and severity: threats	36, 37
8.2 Perceived benefits and barriers: outcome expectations	37, 38
8.3 Cues to action	38
9. Discussion	39-41
9.1 Limitations	42
10. Conclusion and recommendations	43
11. References	44-48

List of tables and figures

Figures

- Figure 1: timeline of key events and officially registered confirmed COVID-19 cases in Sierra Leone in 2020. Page 9.
- Figure 2: Timeline for ITSA analysis. Page 18.
- Figure 3: The Health Believe Model (HBM), a conceptual framework for individual health behaviour. Page 20.

Tables

- Table 1: Overview of hospital indicators for hospital utilization in the different patient groups, divided between acute and non-acute care. Page 17.
- Table 2: Indicators of utilization of hospital services, during the LD and post-LD periods. Page 23.

Graphs

- Graph 1A: Number of monthly OPD consultations during 2019 and 2020. Page 24.
- Graph 1B: Result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly OPD visits with the calculated trend lines during the pre-lockdown, lockdown and post-lockdown periods. Page 24.
- Graph 2A: Number of monthly hospital admissions during 2019 and 2020. Page 25.
- Graph 2B: Result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly hospital admissions with the calculated trend lines during the pre-lockdown, lockdown and post-lockdown periods. Page 25.
- Graph 3A: Number of monthly surgical procedures during 2019 and 2020. Page 26.
- Graph 3B: Result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly surgical procedures with the calculated trend lines during the pre-lockdown, lockdown and post-lockdown periods. Page 26.
- Graph 4A: Number of monthly maternal health services during 2019 and 2020. Page 29.
- Graph 4B: Result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly ANC visits with the calculated trend lines during the pre-lockdown, lockdown and post-lockdown periods. Page 29.
- Graph 4C: Result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly maternity admissions with the calculated trend lines during the pre-lockdown, lockdown and post-lockdown periods. Page 30.
- Graph 4D: Result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly deliveries with the calculated trend lines during the pre-lockdown, lockdown and post-lockdown periods. Page 30.
- Graph 5A: Under-five OPD consultations during 2019 and 2020. Page 31.
- Graph 5B: Under-five OPD consultations for patients diagnosed with an ARI and malaria. Page 31.
- Graph 5C: Under-five admissions and blood transfusion. Page 32.
- Graph 6A: Sputum sample analysis during 2019 and 2020. Page 33.
- Graph 6B: Result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly sputum sample analysis with the calculated trend lines during the pre-lockdown, lockdown and post-lockdown periods. Page 33.
- Graph 7A: Number of monthly OPD visits for HIV and/or TB during 2019 and 2020. Page 34.
- Graph 7B: Result of the ITSA analysis of monthly OPD visits for HIV and/or TB with the calculated trend lines during the pre-lockdown, lockdown and post-lockdown periods. Page 34.
- Graph 8A: Number of monthly OPD visits for an NCD during 2019 and 2020. Page 35.
- Graph 8B: Result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly OPD visits for an NCD with the calculated trend lines during the pre-lockdown, lockdown and post-lockdown periods. Page 35.

Abbreviations

ANC	antenatal care
ARI	acute respiratory tract infection
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease 2019
HBM	Health Believe Model
HCW	health care workers
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
ITSA	interrupted time series analysis
LD	lockdown
LHMC	Lion Heart Medical Centre
LMIC	low and middle-income country
MMR	maternal mortality ratio
NCD	non-communicable diseases
OPD	outpatient department
post-LD	post-lockdown
PPE	personal protective equipment
REC	research ethics committee
SARS-CoV-2	severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2
ТВ	tuberculosis
UHC	universal health coverage

Abstract

Introduction: Sierra Leone responded to the COVID-19 pandemic with strict lockdown measures. The Lion Heart Medical Centre, a rural second line health facility, implemented a COVID-19 strategy to respond to the outbreak and continue regular services. This thesis aims to evaluate utilization rates of hospital services related to maternal health, child health, HIV and/or TB and non-communicable diseases and additionally health-seeking behaviour during an outbreak.

Methodology: A retrospective analysis of the utilization of hospital services in 2020 during the lockdown period (April to June) en the period afterwards (July to December) was conducted for different patient groups. Utilization rates are compared with corresponding periods in 2019 and an interrupted time series analysis. Additionally, a review of literature includes health-seeking behaviour during an outbreak guided by the Health Belief Model.

Results: During the three-month lockdown period all services were underutilized, the reduction ranged from 33 to 88%. After the lockdown, acute services including maternal health, restored to normal levels. Services related to child health and chronic conditions and remained below the normal level. The literature review showed that fear and stigma were main driving factors for under-utilization, similar as during the Ebola outbreak.

Discussion: The under-utilization during the lockdown period potentially led to indirect morbidity and mortality. On going under-utilization may be explained by common symptomatology between malaria, respiratory infections, tuberculosis and COVID-19. Strategies to reduce fear and stigma are recommended, particularly aimed at the under-five population. Evaluating indirect effects provides important information to balance future outbreak measures.

Key words: COVID-19, Sierra Leone, utilization, indirect effects, vulnerable populations

Word count: 10 750

1. Introduction

During the initial phase of the Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic I worked in rural Sierra Leone as the Medical Officer in charge of a remote hospital, the Lion Heart Medical Centre. The government took rigorous measures to restrict travel movements and to prevent that COVID-19 travelled across the borders into Sierra Leone. In the hospital, we prepared for the pandemic and used the experience and personal protective equipment that had remained after the Ebola outbreak 5 years ago. Together with our team, we saw the number of patients visiting the hospital rapidly decline, even before COVID-19 began to spread in Sierra Leone. We observed that patients were scared, withdrew to their ancestral villages and talked about COVID-19 as if Ebola had returned. People were afraid to attract COVID-19 in hospitals and assumed that the health care system was not functional as it had been during Ebola. Even though we made a serious effort to sensitise and connect to the community via de radio and chiefs as we had been doing for a long time, people were suspicious and avoided the hospital. At the same time, we struggled to keep services up and running because our supply chain was distorted by new regulations imposed by the European Union to control (and restrict) the outgoing supplies of personal protective equipment and other COVID-19 related supplies.

When the lockdown began, it became even more silent in the hospital to a point where we had zero patients left. I can safely say that over the years working in Sierra Leone, I encountered quite some situations that were impressive, awfully sad or dehumanising, beyond imagination. Yet, it is the empty hospital during the COVID-19 lockdown that impressed me most. We kept on wondering what had happened to the little children that were usually packed in the wards while being treated for malaria. What had happened to all the pregnant women that came to our hospital to deliver? What had happened to all our chronically ill patients with diabetes, tuberculosis, HIV or hypertension that would line up to get a refill of their medication? They were surely not in the neighbouring clinics or hospitals because they were nearly empty as well.

This personal experience made a big impression on me as a medical doctor, but also personally. It motivated me to explore and research further what had happened to the utilization of hospital services during the COVID-19 pandemic and, most importantly, to understand why.

2. Background

Sierra Leone is a West African country infamous for its past. During the civil war (1991-2002) the infrastructure in the country was destroyed including the health system (1). In 2014 and 2015, Sierra Leone suffered from the Ebola outbreak which had brought to light that the health system had been severely compromised by the civil war and years of underinvestment (2). Not surprisingly, the Ebola outbreak had a major impact on health of the entire population (3).

Despite efforts to strengthen the health system, health indicators such as maternal and under-five mortality had stagnated and remained among the worst in the world. At present, Sierra Leone ranks among the top three countries with the highest maternal mortality ratio (MMR): 1120 deaths per 100 000 live births (4). The under-five mortality ratio is 101 deaths per 1000 live births (5), meaning that 1 in 10 children does not reach the age of five. Malaria and respiratory tract infections are responsible for a majority of these deaths (6).

The lack of coordination and integration between programmes and facilities in the health network have been identified as main barriers for efficiency, this phenomenon is known as fragmentation of the health system (7). Often this is mainly the result of dependence of external partners who each support a vertical program, for example HIV. After the Ebola outbreak, Sierra Leone received an influx of resources and an increase of partnering organizations. This posed a significant challenge for the health sector to coordinate all programmes and establish a coherence (7).

A well-functioning health system is crucial to achieve universal health coverage (UHC) and respond to a pandemic at the same time. Functionality contains four capacities: access to care, quality of care, demand of essential services and resilience (8). Relative to other countries in the WHO African Region, Sierra Leone ranks among the lower segment in terms of access and resilience capacity and at the middle segment in terms of quality and demand capacity (8).

2.1 Initial phase COVID-19 pandemic in Sierra Leone

As in most countries, the COVID-19 pandemic had a substantial impact on daily life and the health care system in Sierra Leone. Due to the Ebola outbreak in 2014 and 2015 Sierra Leone was already quite experienced in responding to a viral disease endangering public health. Before the first cases of COVID-19 were detected, rigorous measures were taken to halt the spread of the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome-Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2): the airspace and land borders were closed combined with an extensive lockdown period with intermittent periods where people were not allowed to leave their house (9,10). A detailed overview of these key events in the initial phase of the -19 pandemic including a timeline of confirmed cases during 2020, is provided in box 1. Despite the first reports indicating that the majority of SARS-CoV-2 infections caused a mild disease course (11), COVID-19 was presented as a severe disease with high mortality: 'like Ebola, highly infectious and deadly' (10).

As described in box 1, the health authorities in Sierra Leone took rapid action and enforced strict lockdown measures (12). This pattern of early, quick and strong measures was observed in countries with previous experience with outbreaks (Ebola), which had limited resources available to direct towards emergencies and their governments had a (realistic) lack of confidence in their health system (13). The measures were aimed at supressing COVID-19 before it could get established. This strategy was seen in many African countries (13). In Sierra Leone, the examples of how COVID-19 affected countries with stronger health systems (Italy e.g.), supported the sense of necessity of this initial response (14).

Box 1: Key events during the initial phase of the COVID-19 pandemic in Sierra Leone

The government announced restrictions to reduce international and national transport rigorously to prevent the spread of COVID-19 to and within Sierra Leone in response to the expanding COVID-19 pandemic to the different continents. From March 21 2020 the airspace was closed down and from March 27 onwards the land border with neighbouring countries were closed (10). In addition, a state of emergency was proclaimed. Despite the restrictions on mobility the inevitable happened; the first positive COVID-19 case was reported on March 31. Subsequently an inter-district lockdown was enforced from April 5 with intermittent periods of complete lockdown where all individuals needed to stay indoors (9). The inter-district lockdown was relieved on June 24 when the number of COVID-19 cases reduced and the feared large-scale morbidity and mortality was not observed (15).



2.2 The impact of an outbreak

The burden of COVID-19 is inequitable distributed, with low and middle-income countries (LMIC) and poor communities affected more (17). In general, older people, people living in densely populated areas, people with a lower socio-economic status and minority groups are disproportionally affected (17). People living in LMIC's are also more vulnerable to the socio-economic effects of lockdown measures because a large proportion of the population often depends on daily hands-on labour. Families depend on this daily income to buy food for their survival and lockdown measures immediately increase food insecurity (18,19). In Sierra Leone, the strict lockdown measures had an immediate effect on household income, causing difficulties to provide food for the majority. Additionally, high rates of anxiety were reported in these same households (19).

In Sierra Leone, elderly people in the rural areas were found particularly vulnerable during the lockdown period since they often depend on care and support from others that may not live in their household. Due to travel restrictions they became more easily separated from their caregivers an had less access to essential supplies (20). These reports confirm the grave concerns, expressed at the beginning of the pandemic, on the effects of lockdown restrictions on people's ability to feed families and whether the relatively poor population would be able to cope with the lockdown restrictions (12).

An important lesson learned from the Ebola outbreak in West Africa is that the impact on healthcare stretches far beyond the direct morbidity and mortality. This is shown by an overall decrease in uptake of hospital services due to less availability of services combined with fear and stigma (21). Both health care provision and utilization determine the uptake (or coverage) of services. In turn, utilization is influenced by the demand for and access to these services (22). During the Ebola outbreak, people were less inclined to seek health care for a sick family member, indicating a decreased demand (23,24). At the same time, health facilities were not able to provide good quality healthcare due to a lack of equipment and supplies. This resulted in nosocomial Ebola infections and closure of health institutions leading to a reduced provision of health services (21,25). This corresponds with the main reported barriers to access healthcare: fear to attract Ebola and a disruption of services (26). Other factors influencing access related to transportation were not important barriers (26). Overall, vulnerable groups such as pregnant women, young children, elderly and chronically ill, were most affected by the decrease in uptake of hospital services (3).

2.3 The Lion Heart Medical Centre

In the rural heart of Sierra Leone, the Lion Heart Medical Centre (LHMC) has operated as a second line health facility in Tonkolili district for the past decade. During the Ebola outbreak a dramatic drop in patient attendances was observed, most likely caused by fear in the community to be considered an Ebola suspect and subsequent isolation (27). At the same time it was very difficult to safeguard the functionality of essential services due to staff shortages resulting from nosocomial transmission of Ebola to health care workers (HCW) (27). With the lessons from Ebola in mind, the main aim during the COVID-19 pandemic was to ensure continuation of regular health services and at the same time adequately respond to the threat of COVID-19. From March 2020 onwards the LHMC designed and implemented an appropriate response to the COVID-19 pandemic in close collaboration with the health authorities. An overview of this strategy is given in box 2.

Despite this strategy, the functionality and provision of essential services was challenged by temporary shortages of health care workers and disruptions in the supply chain (28,29). These shortages were caused by large-scale quarantine of HCW's when a patient was found positive of COVID-19, but did not lead to deaths among HCW's as was the case during the Ebola outbreak. The provision of services was constrained in LHMC, but not to the same extend as during the Ebola outbreak.

Box 2: Covid-19 strategy

LHMC

A designated team was appointed to design and implement appropriate measures for the COVID-19 pandemic. Guided by protocols from the World Health Organization (WHO) and instructions from the district health authorities, the outbreak team drafted a matrix with different scales of measures for different scenarios ranging from few suspected cases to an overflow of COVID-19 suspects. Central elements in the plan were a strict separation between COVID-19 suspects and regular patients from the triage point at the entry point (picture 1), scale-up of infection prevention and control measures to prevent nosocomial spread and maintaining capacity for regular care in each scenario. A separate ward was cleared for the isolation of COVID-19 suspected patients awaiting their test result. Additional staff was recruited to secure the isolation ward, direct patients to follow the instructions of HCW's and carry out additional disinfection of contaminated areas. During the implementation of these measures HCW's were trained and educated in the proper use of personal protective equipment (PPE) and the spread, presentation and diagnosis of COVID-19.

Community

In close collaboration with community stakeholders LHMC designed a program to sensitize the community on COVID-19 since the amount of circulating incorrect information was quite alarming. With assistance of the local radio station, tunes were created with lyrics about COVID-19 and health messages in various local languages. Since gatherings were prohibited, these tunes were broadcasted by the local radio station and mobile public announcements system.

Teachers, who were at home due to closure of schools, were invited to participate in a cascade training on COVID-19. They were provided with instruction material and trained by HCW's to sensitise households on community level.

Confirmed COVID-19 patients

Once confirmed positive, COVID-19 patients were transported to regional treatment centres by the national ambulance service, coordinated by the health authorities (30). At strategic locations throughout the countries designated health facilities were established as treatment centres. As in many LMIC, Sierra Leone lacked a reliable supply of oxygen, mechanical ventilators and HCW's capable to deliver this treatment modality. With these and other common challenges of a LMIC, the treatments centres were ran with what was available (31).



Picture 1: screening station at the hospital entrance at LHMC

3. Problem statement and justification

The pandemic has pressured governments to divert resources to the COVID-19 response and potentially compromising other non-COVID-19 related essential health care services (32). In Sierra Leone concerns were raised that the unintended effects of the COVID-19 containment measures would outweigh the morbidity and mortality caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus (33). In order to minimize the compromise of essential health care services, a rational approach was suggested to ensure access to these services in LMIC's (32). A modelling study across 118 LMIC's predicted that the COVID-19 outbreak could indirectly cause an additional 44.6% child and 38.6% maternal deaths in a scenario that resembled the situation in Sierra Leone, including strict movement restrictions, stay-at-home orders, lack of trust in the official health system and fear in the community of nosocomial infections (22). Following these widespread concerns regarding the effects of the pandemic on essential health care services, several studies reported on these services being compromised (34–38).

3.1 Maternal health

Early in the COVID-19 pandemic two main trends for Maternal and Newborn health services in LMIC's were reported: a declining use of services and a rapid detoriation of quality (34). The main contributing factors described included fear and limited access due to loss of income and unavailability of ambulances. Within facilities capacity was reduced due to physical distancing and quality impaired by inadequate supplies to follow IPC procedures (34). Another complicating factor was the lack of updated guidelines in LMIC's on how to handle a maternity case with signs and symptoms of COVID-19 (35). Specific concerns were raised on the increased interval between antenatal care (ANC) consultations since some African countries have adopted an interval of 3 months in the COVID-19 pandemic. As many women attend ANC services late, they may only visit a clinic once during their pregnancy. It is likely that the implications for maternal and child health are significant (39).

A study previously conducted at LHMC showed that the burden of malaria, malnutrition and anaemia during pregnancy is alarmingly high (40). A reduction of ANC visits would reduce opportunities for treatment and prevention and potentially lead to increase in morbidity and mortality. The first observations at the beginning of the pandemic included a steep decline in uptake of all maternal health services (38).

3.1 Child health

The direct effects of COVID-19 on children seem to be limited, since children mainly have a mild or asymptomatic disease course (41). However, there are concerns that children in LMIC's are more at risk due to a high prevalence of comorbidities such as exposure to air pollution, malnutrition and the relative high burden of acute respiratory tract infections (ARI) (41).

A significant challenge in the under-five population is the overlap between symptoms of COVID-19 and other common illnesses such as an ARI and malaria, both highly prevalent in Sierra Leone and many other LMIC's (42). As indicated earlier, both ARI and malaria are the main causes for mortality in the under-five population (6). Based on clinical presentation, it is impossible to distinguish COVID-19 from malaria or a regular ARI. While rapid diagnostic tests for malaria are widely available, available diagnostic options for COVID-19 are limited since it requires advance logistic and laboratory capacity (41). A case series of paediatric COVID-19 cases found through contact tracing in Sierra Leone, reported a mild disease course with fever as the main presenting symptom. Additionally, 4 out of 9 children were co-infected with malaria (42). This example also illustrates that malaria co-infection with for malaria may be common and further complicates diagnosis. The authors of this case series state that it is unclear how

best to approach the large number of children with fever during the COVID-19 pandemic and suggest that an age specific case definition would be helpful for malaria-endemic areas (42). In the main paediatric hospital in Sierra Leone a drop op 75% in occupancy rate was observed during the lockdown (9). Parents refused to go to the hospital when their child had fever, a symptom of both COVID-19 and malaria, out of fear to be quarantined (43).

3.3 Infectious diseases

In the past decades, substantial progress has been made to reduce the disease burden of malaria in Africa. The COVID-19 pandemic poses significant threats to the established malaria control programs as happened during the Ebola outbreak (44,45). Routine preventive methods such as distribution of nets, indoor residual spraying or seasonal chemoprofylaxis are important elements of the control programs. When these preventive activities are disrupted and additionally people with malaria have limited access to treatment, an increase in morbidity and mortality is likely to occur (46). Estimates include a doubled number of deaths due to malaria (44).

Other established programs, for example for TB and HIV, also rely on continuous preventive activities, case finding and treatment. These and similar programs a threatened in the same manner by the COVID-19 pandemic (47,48). In Sierra Leone, a rapid decline in presumptive and confirmed TB cases was reported just after the lockdown. Since the symptoms of tuberculosis and COVID-19 may overlap, people possibly fear the stigma of being diagnosed with COVID-19 and avoid the health care system. Other people were not able to afford travelling to the health centre due a loss of income due to the lockdown (36). Another contributing factor is the diversion of resources towards COVID-19 related care away from TB (48).

3.4 Justification

As summarized above, the COVID-19 pandemic has created significant challenges to ensure coverage of health care services, both on the provision and utilization of health care services. The indirect effects on maternal health, child health, malaria programs and people living with HIV and/or TB in LMIC's is predicted to be substantial (22,44,47,48). At the beginning of the pandemic, the first reports in Sierra Leone already indicated a decline in utilization of health services (9,36,38). However, it remains unclear what the full extend of the impact of the pandemic is on utilization of hospital services. Not only during the lockdown period, but also afterwards. Evaluating the utilization of health services could serve as a starting point to estimate the indirect effects, since it might be challenging to measure indirect morbidity and mortality in Sierra Leone. During the Ebola outbreak, vulnerable groups were disproportionally affected (3). It also unknown whether these groups as similarly affected during the COVID-19 pandemic.

This thesis therefore aims to analyse what the effects on the utilization of hospital services were during and after the lockdown period in the LHMC and how utilization was affected in different patient groups. Additionally, a literature review will be performed to further understand health-seeking behaviour during the COVID-19 pandemic.

A combination of the findings of the LHMC case study with the literature review, would provide additional information on why utilization of hospital services was affected and which groups were affected most. This would provide an insight in health care seeking behaviour during the COVID-19 pandemic and could aide and inform policymakers and stakeholders to evaluate the measures taken and to balance future measures in the remaining of the present pandemic or in a next pandemic. Additionally, the findings could aide policymakers to tailor measures to protect vulnerable groups.

4. Study questions

The following research questions are formulated:

- 1. What is the difference in utilization of LHMC hospital services during the Covid-19 lockdown (LD) period (April-June 2020) and post-lockdown (Post-LD) period (July-December 2020) compared to corresponding months in 2019?
 - a. What are the differences in the utilization of hospital services in the LD and Post-LD periods between services related to maternal health, child health, HIV and/or TB and non-communicable diseases (NCD's)?
 - b. What are the differences in utilization of hospital services in LD and Post-LD periods between services related to acute and non-acute conditions?
 - c. What are the differences in utilization of hospital services in LD and Post-LD periods between male and female patients?
- 2. What is described in the current literature on the influence of an outbreak or pandemic on the determinants of health seeking behaviour Sierra Leone or similar other countries in West Africa?
- 3. Which recommendations can be given to policymakers in Sierra Leone on appropriate measures during an outbreak or pandemic, based on the findings of study question 1 and 2?

5. Objectives

This thesis aims to analyse the utilization of regular hospital services during the COVID-19 LD (April-June 2020) and Post-LD periods (July-December 2020) in the LHMC in Sierra Leone. The differences between hospital services for specific patient groups (maternal health, child health, infectious diseases and NCD's), acute and non-acute care and gender will be analysed.

Furthermore, this thesis aims to give an overview of the literature what the effect of a pandemic or outbreak in on health seeking behaviour in Sierra Leone or other similar West African countries. At last, based on the findings of the described objective, the aim of this thesis is to give recommendations on appropriate measures during an outbreak or pandemic considering vulnerable groups.

6. Methods

This chapter is divided in three main subchapters. First, subchapter 6.1 describes the methods used for the quantitative analysis of LHMC hospital date. Second, subchapter 6.2 describes methods for the literature review and the selection of the analytical framework.

6.1 Quantitative analysis LHMC hospital data

6.1.1 Study design

The design for this study is a retrospective secondary analysis of hospital data. The monthly hospital statistics were provided by LHMC covering the complete years 2019 and 2020. This time frame was chosen to cover the start of the COVID-19 pandemic with extensive lockdown periods and to cover a period without a lockdown or other major events. The year 2019 was selected to serve as a point of reference, since this was a relatively stable year with no major internal changes (hospital policies, capacity of offered services) or external changes.

During the period before 2019, several major changes were identified and therefore not included in the analysis. In 2018 LHMC expanded its hospital services with a maternal health referral and outreach program. In 2017 an additional ward for isolated and chronic wound cases was opened. During the outbreak of Ebola in 2014 and 2015, hospital utilization was affected substantially (27).

6.1.2 Indicators for hospital utilization

Within the four patient groups utilizing services related to maternal health, child health, HIV and/or TB and NCD's, indicators were selected representing hospital utilization, for example number of deliveries, outpatient under five cases etc. Relevant indicators who were not specific for a patient group were described in a general group.

The indicators were divided in acute versus non-acute and when possible indicators were separated between gender. Gender disaggregation was available for the indicators: outpatient department (OPD) visits for the general population and under five years of age (<5), and the number of surgical procedures. Table 1 shows the 14 selected indicators.

In order to give an indication of the number of COVID-19 suspected patients visiting the LHMC during the study period, the number of reported ARI cases among adolescents and adults (>15 years) were also included. Reliable data on indicators more directly related to COVID-19, were not available.

	General	Maternal health	Child Health	HIV and/or TB	NCD's
Acute care	Admissions	Deliveries	<5 admissions	-	-
		Admissions	<5 blood transfusions		
Non-acute care	OPD visits - male - female	ANC visits	OPD <5 cases - male - female	OPD visits TB and/or HIV	OPD visits NCD
	(>15 ARI cases)		OPD <5 ABL cases	TB screening	
	(* 15 / 111 60565)				
			OPD <5 malaria cases		
Both	Surgeries - male - female	-	-	-	-

Table 1: Overview of hospital indicators for hospital utilization in the different patient groups, divided between acute and non-acute care.

6.1.3 Definition of LD and Post-LD periods and reference periods

The official lockdown started on April 5 and ended on June 24 2020 with varying degrees of restrictive measures. In general, movement between different districts was prohibited and during several three-day periods people were confined to their houses.

For this study, the period covering April, May and June was selected as the LD period. The remaining months of 2020 (July, August, September, November, December) were selected as the Post-LD period. For each indicator the average monthly number in the LD and Post-LD was calculated. The corresponding months in 2019 were selected as a reference to take into account possible seasonal influences of malaria incidence and the rainy season.

6.1.4 Data analysis

The data was analysed in three steps. First the data was visualized in graphs using Microsoft Excel to view the course of the indicators over the entire study period ranging from 2019 to 2020.

In second instance, Microsoft Excel was used to calculate the average monthly values for all indicators during the LD and Post-LD periods in 2020 and corresponding reference periods in 2019. The difference between the LD or Post-LD periods and their reference value was expressed as a percentage. A negative value corresponded with a reduction; a positive value corresponded with an increase relative to the reference value in 2019.

To add statistical validity to the basis calculations, a third step of data analysis was added with the interrupted time series analysis (ITSA) (49). This is an accepted and commonly used statistical method to analyse effects of an intervention when it is not possible to compare the intervention with a control group (50).

For the purpose of this analysis, data was imported in STATA. Subsequently, the study period was divided in three periods separated by two interventions, the start and the end of the lockdown period, also visualized in figure 3.



Figure 2: Timeline for ITSA analysis. Two interventions, the start and the end of the lockdown separate the study period in 3 periods Pre-LD, LD and Post-LD.

The ITSA estimates the effect of an intervention using a regression-based approach. Based on the measurements at equally spaced time-points, the ITSA method calculates a linear trend line before and after an intervention. The differences in characteristics between the trend lines (intercept, slope, level change, and change in slope) are used to describe the effect of an intervention (49).

A clear directive for the number of data points in each period is not given, but ideally multiple data points before and after the interventions are available. In other studies using ITSA, the number of data points ranged from 12-32 before and after the intervention (51). A minimum of 3 data points is required to run the analysis in STATA. De dataset of this study contains a total of 24 data points, 15 before the start of the lockdown, 3 during the lockdown and 6 after the lockdown.

For the indicators related to malaria with strong seasonal fluctuations, the ITSA would not give an adequate representation. In order to correct for seasonal fluctuation, data from multiple years is required to establish a correction model. Since this data is not available, the ITSA will not be conducted on the indicators that are highly influenced by the malaria incidence during rainy season. These include all indicators for child health and diagnosis of malaria.

6.1.5 Ethical considerations

Permission to use the hospital statistics for the purpose of this thesis was obtained from the Lion Heart Medical Centre. The KIT Research Ethics Committee (REC) granted a waiver for full ethical review under project code S-141. The rationale for this decision was the use of anonymized hospital statistics.

6.2 Literature review and analytical framework

6.2.1 Literature review

Relevant literature was searched using the databases PubMed and Google Scholar using a combination of the following words: COVID-19, Corona, Coronavirus, pandemic, outbreak, Ebola, health behaviour, health seeking behaviour, risk perception, knowledge, Sierra Leone, West Africa, Guinee, Libera and LMIC. Additional articles were found through reference searching. Articles were considered when they addressed research question 2 and focused on health behaviour in general, not health behaviour specific for COVID-19. Articles from outside the West African region were considered when relevant to the setting in Sierra Leone.

6.2.2 Analytical framework: the Health Believe Model

The focus of this thesis lies on utilization of health care services during the lockdown period of the COVID-19 pandemic in Sierra Leone and to understand how health behaviour was influenced. We therefore aimed to find a model that gives guidance on the different factors that determine health behaviour. The Health Believe Model (HBM) was selected to serve as a conceptual framework to describe how health behaviour was influenced during the COVID-19 pandemic and led to changes in utilization of health care services. The HBM was initially developed in the 1950's to enhance the effectiveness of health education programmes. It was acknowledged that demographic variables such as socioeconomic status, gender and age were associated with preventive health measures and health behaviour in general. The likelihood of experiencing a health problem and its perceived severity in combinations with the expected benefits and barriers, were seen as the key beliefs that determine health behaviour. It was shown that these beliefs were associated with health behaviour and can be used to distinguish between people who did and did not engage in certain health behaviour (52,53)

6.2.2.1 Description of the HBM

The HBM is a conceptual framework based on 6 determinants health behaviour:

- 1. Perceived susceptibility
- 2. Perceived severity
- 3. Perceived benefits
- 4. Perceived barriers
- 5. Cues to action

The perception of threats includes beliefs on perceived susceptibility and perceived severity of a disease. The evaluation of behaviour includes beliefs on the perceived benefits and barriers of certain behaviour and what the expected outcome is (52). An individual would consider for example: 'What is my risk to get malaria and would it make very ill?' (perception of threats) and 'Which healthcare service am I likely to receive at my nearest health centre?' and 'What are my risks and what hinders me to go there? (outcome expectation). In addition to these key aspects, the HBM describes that certain cues can trigger health behaviour. These cues include: experiencing certain symptoms, social influence or health campaigns. For example, in the case of malaria: an individual experiences fever, a neighbour shares experiences of their illness or a health message on malaria is broadcasted on the radio. These and similar cues can motivate a person to seek healthcare. The model is shown in figure 5.



Figure 3: The Health Believe Model (HBM), a conceptual framework for individual health behaviour

The basic concept of the HBM has been applied in numerous research projects on predicting preventive health behaviour and usage of health care services and adherence to health care advice (54). To date, the HBM is one of the most commonly used frameworks to understand individual health behaviour.

6.2.2.2 Limitations of the model

The conceptual framework of the HBM is a simplified version of the complex process of individual deliberation that determines health behaviour. The model does not take into account the non-health related reasons for health behaviour such as peer pressure, social acceptability, norms or habits. Furthermore, the model does not explicitly evaluate access or availability of services, which is relevant in the context of a pandemic in a LMIC. In order to mitigate these limitations and achieve an optimal fit, the model is interpreted in its most broad sense. Perceived barriers and benefits are not strictly related to health, but may also include for example the expectation that health care services are poor in quality because all resources have been reverted to COVID-19 or the scale up of triage protocols and associated waiting time. Furthermore, cues are described as a trigger for health care behaviour. In the context of a pandemic it is appropriate to also consider cues that hinder certain health behaviour. During the COVID-19 pandemic for example it is possible that people would not seek health care when experiencing COVID-19 related symptoms out of fear for stigmatization and isolation.

6.2.2.3 Applying the HBM model in the literature review

The studies found by the literature search will be discussed in structured manner and organized following the 6 determinants of the HBM. The findings will be used to hypothesize how the evaluation of health behaviour may have been influenced by the COVID-19 pandemic and led to altered health behaviour and subsequently a different utilization of health care services.

7. Results quantitative analysis

The results of the quantitative analysis will be presented in this section discussed according to the different patient groups utilizing healthcare and their indicators, subdivided into general services, maternal health, child health, HIV and/or TB and NCD's and characterized as acute or non-acute health service (table 1).

7.1 General hospital services

7.1.1 OPD visits

Graph 1A visualizes the number of monthly OPD consultations, an indicator for non-acute hospital care. In the period before the LD, the average number of OPD visits fluctuated around 600 with a reduction to 150 (-76%) monthly visits during the lockdown (table 2). After the lockdown the number of monthly visits quickly restored to the same level as before the lockdown. When the indicator is disaggregated by gender, only minor differences are observed between male and female patients.

The ITSA analysis (graph 1B) shows a significantly change of a reduction of 337 predicted OPD visits (p<0.000) during the LD period. In the post-LD period the predicted OPD visits increase with 281 (p<0.000). Additionally, the trend line in the post-LD period is strongly positive with an average increase of 40 OPD visit each month (p<0.000).

As indicated before, the number of adolescent and adult patients with an ARI was included to provide contextual information on the number of patients reporting with COVID-19 or diseases with a similar clinical presentation. As shown in table 2, during the LD and post-LD periods this number was reduced with 91 and 70% respectively.

7.1.2 Admissions

The indicator hospital admission resembles acute care, since patients are admitted when their condition requires hospital treatment and cannot be postponed. Graph 2A visualizes the course of admissions during the entire study period. During the LD period, the number of admissions reduced with 53% (table 2). In the post-LD period, the number of monthly admissions increased, with an unexpected spike in November towards the normal level (Graph 2A). Nevertheless, the average number of admissions in the post-LD period is still reduced with 34% compared to the reference period.

In the ITSA, similar trends are observed and shown in graph 2B. After de start of the lockdown, the level of the trend line decreases with 127 admissions (p <0.001). After the end of the lockdown the level of the trend line does not change significantly (16, p = 0.435), but the slope is strongly positive with an average increase of 23 admissions each month (p = 0.003). This resembles an upward trend of monthly hospital admissions.

7.1.3 Surgical procedures

The indicator surgical procedures, contains both elements of acute and non-acute care. Before the lockdown, the number of monthly surgeries fluctuates around 60 as shown in graph 3A. During the LD period the average monthly number of surgeries decreases to 21, a reduction of 64% (table 2). In the post-LD period this increased to 49, but still 21% below the average of the reference period. The number of surgeries was further subdivided according to gender, similar changers were observed between male and female patients during the LD and post-LD period (table 2)

In the ITSA analysis a similar pattern was observed comparable to hospital admissions (graph 3B). After de start of de lockdown, the level of the trend line decreased with 45 monthly surgeries (<0.001) and after the end of the lockdown, a trend line had a positive slope of an average increase of 9 surgeries each month (<0.001).

Indicators of utilization of hospital services during lockdown and post-lockdown periods						
	Lockdown		Post-Lockdown			
	2020 LD (A/M/J)	2019 reference (A/M/J)	Difference	2020 post LD (July-	2019 reference (July-	Difference
Indicator	(monthly average)	(monthly average)	(%)	Dec) (monthly	Dec) (monthly average)	(%)
1 - General						
Total visits outpatient clinic	150	622	-76%	513	536	-4%
Male visits outpatient clinic	80	319	-75%	266	265	0%
Female visits outpatient clinic	70	370	-81%	247	221	12%
ARI cases >15yrs outpatient clinic	2	25	-91%	7	24	-70%
Admissions	97	208	-53%	180	271	-34%
Total surgical procedures	21	59	-64%	49	62	-21%
Male surgical procedures	12	33	-64%	29	35	-17%
Female surgical procedures	9	27	-67%	20	27	-26%
2 - Maternal health indicators						
Visits antenatal clinic	55	176	-69%	150	155	-3%
Deliveries	12	35	-66%	36	39	-8%
Admissions	20	47	-57%	55	60	-8%
3 - Child health (under-five) indicators						
Total <5 outpatient visits	51	145	-65%	87	114	-24%
Male <5 outpatient visits	25	83	-70%	47	59	-20%
Female <5 outpatient visits	26	62	-58%	39	58	-33%
Outpatient treatment for <5 ARI case	5	15	-67%	12	25	-52%
Outpatient treatement for <5 malaria case	7	58	-88%	18	39	-54%
<5 admission	48	90	-47%	47	63	-25%
<5 blood transfusion	16	24	-33%	25	25	0%
4 - Infectious disease indicators						
TB microscopy screening	0	32	-100%	21	24	-13%
Outpatient visits for TB and/or HIV	2	12	-83%	10	13	-23%
5 - Non-communicable disease indicators						
Outpatient visits voor NCD's	15	85	-82%	49	77	-36%

Table 2: indicators of utilization of hospital services, during LD and post LD periods.



Graph 1A: Number of monthly OPD consultations during 2019 and 2020. The lockdown period is indicated in orange and post-lockdown period in grey. Total numbers (blue) divided in male (green) and female (red) patients.



Graph 1B: result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly OPD visits with the calculated trend lines during the Prelockdown, Lockdown and Post-lockdown periods.



Graph 2A: Number of monthly hospital admissions during 2019 and 2020. The lockdown period is indicated in orange and post-lockdown period in grey.



Graph 2B: result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly hospital admissions with the calculated trend lines during the Pre-lockdown, Lockdown and Post-lockdown periods.



Graph 3A: Number of monthly surgical procedures during 2019 and 2020. The lockdown period is indicated in orange and post-lockdown period in grey. The blue line indicates the total number of surgeries, in red the female patients and in green the male patients.



	Value	p-value
Pre-lockdown		
Intercept	50.18	< 0.001
Slope	1.05	0.084
Lockdown		
Level change	- 45.1	<0.001
Slope	0.50	0.606
Slope LD-PreLD	- 0.55	0.590
Post-lockdown		
Level change	4.43	0.296
Slope	8.83	<0.001
Slope PostLD-LD	8.33	0.001

Graph 3B: result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly surgical procedures with the calculated trend lines during the Pre-lockdown, Lockdown and Post-lockdown periods.

7.2 Maternal health

7.2.1 ANC consultations

During the LD period, the number of ANC consultations, an indicator of non-acute hospital services, reduced with 69% and restored to the normal level in the post-LD period (table 2 and graph 4A). In the ITSA (graph 4B), the number of monthly ANC consultations reduced with 97 (p = 0.003) and increased again after the LD with 108 (p = 0.001).

7.2.2 Maternity admissions and deliveries

For maternity admissions and deliveries, both indicators of acute care, a similar pattern is observed. During the LD-period a stark reduction is observed of 57% and 66% respectively for admissions and deliveries respectively. In the post-LD period the numbers restore to just below the reference (table 2). These findings are supported by the ITSA analysis of both indicators (graph 4C and D). For maternity admissions the analysis shows a decrease of 30 monthly admissions (p = 0.003) after the start of the LD. In the post-LD period an increase of 35 (p = 0.001) admissions is predicted. Additionally the slope of the trend line in the post-LD period is positive with an increase of 5 admissions each month. For deliveries a similar pattern is observed (graph 4D).

7.3 Child health

7.3.1 Under-five OPD consultation and diagnosed ARI and malaria patients

Graph 5A shows the course of under-five OPD consultations during the study period. During the rainy season in 2019 (March until September) a peak in consultations was seen, supporting the previous statement of seasonal influence. For diagnosed under-five malaria cases this peak is even more profound, shown in graph 5B. The rainy season in 2020 coincides with the LD period, where drop in OPD consultations, malaria and ARI cases is observed instead of the expected peak due to a rise in malaria incidence during the rainy season. When the monthly OPD consultations during the LD are compared with the reference period, a reduction of 65% is observed (table 2). When specifically looking at diagnosed under-five malaria and ARI cases, a reduction of 88 and 67% respectively is observed during the lockdown. In the post-LD period, the number of monthly under-five OPD consultations increases again, but the average remains 25% below the reference period. The number of under-five malaria and ARI cases increased slightly in the post-LD period, but remained substantially below, 54 en 52% below the reference level.

In the gender disaggregation of under-five OPD cases, the reduction of visits during the LD is more profound among boys than girls, respectively a reduction of 70% versus 58%. In the post-LD period the reduction is slightly more profound among girls than boys, respectively a reduction of 33% versus 20% (table 2).

7.3.2 Under-five admissions and blood transfusions

Graph 5C shows the course of the monthly number of under-five admission and blood transfusions. Mainly the number of under-five admissions is highly fluctuant, with a clear peak in admissions during the rainy season in 2019. During 2020 a peak in under-five admissions is seen in February (before the

rainy season) and a small peak during the rainy season and LD period in May. The number of under-five blood transfusions shows a peak during the rainy season in 2019 and a slight increase after the LD period and rainy season in 2020.

When comparing the average under-five admissions with the reference period (table 2), a reduction of 47% is observed during the LD period. In the post-LD period, the number is reduced with 25%. For the number of under-five blood transfusions, a reduction of 33% during the LD is observed. In the post-LD period, the under-five blood transfusion is at a similar level as the reference period.



Graph 4A: Number of monthly maternal health services during 2019 and 2020. The lockdown period is indicated in orange and post-lockdown period in grey. The blue line indicates the ANC visits, the red line the admissions and the green line the deliveries.



Graph 4B: result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly ANC visits with the calculated trend lines during the Prelockdown, Lockdown and Post-lockdown periods.



Graph 4C: result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly maternity admissions with the calculated trend lines during the Pre-lockdown, Lockdown and Post-lockdown periods.



	Value	p-value
Pre-lockdown		
Intercept	32.79	<0.001
Slope	- 0.179	0.979
Lockdown		
Level change	- 16.02	0.008
Slope	- 4.50	<0.001
Slope LD-PreLD	- 4.48	<0.001
Post-lockdown		
Level change	20.71	<0.001
Slope	4.91	<0.001
Slope PostLD-LD	9.41	< 0.001

Graph 4D: result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly deliveries with the calculated trend lines during the Prelockdown, Lockdown and Post-lockdown periods.



Graph 5A: Under-five OPD consultations during 2019 and 2020. The rainy season is indicated with the blue bar, the lockdown period is indicated in orange and the post lockdown period in grey. In red the total number, in blue female and green male under-five patients.



Time 2019-2020 (months)

Graph 5B: Under-five OPD consultations for patients diagnosed with an ARI (in blue) and malaria (in red). The rainy season is indicated with the blue bar, the lockdown period is indicated in orange and the post lockdown period in grey.



Graph 5C: Under-five admissions (blue) and blood transfusions (red). The rainy season is indicated with the blue bar, the lockdown period is indicated in orange and the post lockdown period in grey.

7.4 HIV and/or TB

The indicators for HIV and/or TB include the number of sputum samples analysed to diagnose tuberculosis (TB) and the number of consultations for HIV and TB (both initial diagnosis and follow up). Both indicators are grouped under non-acute health care services.

7.4.1 Sputum microscopy

We observed the largest reduction, of 100%, in the number of sputum samples analysed to diagnose TB during the LD period (graph 6A, table 2). In the post-LD period the number of samples analysed increased to an average still 13% below the reference period. The ITSA analysis showed a reduction of 29 sputum samples (p < 0.001) after the start of the lockdown and an increase of 14 monthly-analysed sputum samples (p = 0.014) after the end of the lockdown (graph 6B).

7.4.2 OPD consultations for HIV and/or TB

Graph 7A visualized the course of OPD consultations for HIV and/or TB during the study period. The numbers fluctuate around 10 to 20 average each month, a relatively small proportion of total OPD visits (table 2). During the LD period the number of consultations for HIV and/or TB reduced with 83% and in the post-LD this number was reduced with 23% compared to the reference period.

In the ITSA analysis (graph 7B) a reduction of 16 (p < 0.001) consultations for HIV and/or TB was predicted after the start of the lockdown and an increase of 9 visits (p = 0.007) after the end of the LD.



Graph 6A: Number of monthly analyzed sputum samples during 2019 and 2020. The lockdown period is indicated in orange and post-lockdown period in grey.



Graph 6B: result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly analysed sputum samples with the calculated trend lines during the Pre-lockdown, Lockdown and Post-lockdown periods.



Graph 7A: Number of monthly OPD visits during 2019 and 2020. The lockdown period is indicated in orange and post-lockdown period in grey.



Graph 7B: result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly OPD visits for HIV and/or TB with the calculated trend lines during the Pre-lockdown, Lockdown and Post-lockdown periods.

7.5 Non-Communicable diseases

The final indicator is the number of OPD visits of patients with hypertension, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases or malignancies. These diseases combined are NCD's and grouped under non-acute health care services. Graph 8A shows that before the lockdown on average 80-100 patients with an NCD visited the OPD each month. During de LD, this number reduced with 82% (table 2). In the post-LD period, this number increased, but reached a level 36% below the reference period. This is further supported by the predictions of the ITSA, after the start of the lockdown the number of monthly OPD consultations reduced with 52 (p <0.001) and after the end of the lockdown this increased with 32 (p <0.001).



Time 2019-2020 (months)

Graph 8A: Number of monthly OPD visits for an NCD during 2019 and 2020. The lockdown period is indicated in orange and post-lockdown period in grey.



Graph 8B: result of the ITSA analysis of the monthly OPD visits for an NCD with the calculated trend lines during the Pre-lockdown, Lockdown and Post-lockdown periods.

8. Review of literature guided by the HBM

In this section, an overview is given of the current literature on altered health seeking behaviour during an outbreak or pandemic in Sierra Leone or similar other countries in West Africa (research question 2). The findings are discussed according to the five determinants of health behaviour, as described by the HBM (53): perceived susceptibility, severity, benefits, barriers and cues to action (figure 5). In the HBM, both perceived susceptibility and severity contribute to perceived threats of a disease and because both determinants are interlinked, they will be discussed together.

The same applies to the determinants perceived benefits and barriers (or risks), are also discussed together since they both lead to an expectation on the outcome of certain health behaviour.

8.1 Perceived susceptibility and severity: threats

A central emotional response during a pandemic is fear, which may cause threats to appear more impending (55). According to the HBM, the perceived threat from COVID-19 is influenced by the perceived severity and susceptibility of the disease and builds on disease specific knowledge. Sengeh et al conducted a study on community knowledge, attitudes and practices in Sierra Leone, early in the pandemic (March 2020) (56). They found that knowledge about symptoms and outcome of COVID-19 was inadequate: only 33% of the study participants were aware that difficulty in breathing was an important symptom and 35% that a person can survive COVID-19. Hereby, overestimating the mortality rate (56). Another study, also conducted early in the pandemic, explored the influence of the Ebola outbreak on the disease perception of COVID-19. When comparing, study participant were quoted, stating that 'the diseases are the same' (57). Due to their previous experience they were aware of the risks of an infection and acknowledged that rules and regulations are needed in order to survive the COVID-19 pandemic, as was the case with Ebola (57). Both studies reported that the risk perception of COVID-19 in Sierra Leone is inadequate by overestimating the severity and mortality (56,57).

In Guinea, a study was conducted to explore the influence of previous experiences with Ebola on perceived susceptibility and threats of other diseases and eventual health seeking behaviour. They found that fearful memories from the Ebola outbreak seem to positively influence health-seeking behaviour for febrile illness, years later (58). This study was conducted before COVID-19 and whether this association upholds during the pandemic remains unknown.

Regarding perceived susceptibility of a disease, people tend to have an 'optimism bias', which is the belief that misfortune is more likely to affect other people rather than oneself, which might lead to underestimation of the risks to become infected or severely ill (55). A study from Uganda showed that the mortality of COVID-19 was perceived to be higher for people from Europa or the USA compared to Ugandan nationals, indicating that COVID-19 was perceived as a disease that affected 'the white race' more (59). The same study reported also that male study participants perceived themselves more at risk to get infected and become severely ill compared to the participating women (59). Interestingly, women are reported to be actually more at risk to attract COVID-19 because they are assigned to care giving roles, such as caring for sick and possibly infectious people (60). Additionally, knowledge and preventive actions were reported significantly higher in men compared to women (56). This possibly could be explained by a different perception of susceptibility, assuming that in Sierra Leone also perceived themselves more at risk like shown in Uganda (59).

Inadequate knowledge and perceived threat from a disease may stem from limited access to accurate health information (61). In rural communities in Sierra Leone, people rely mainly on the local radio for their information (57). In general, people living in rural areas rely more on widespread misinformation and anecdotal reports compared to their counterparts in urban areas, due to limited access to information tools, few social media channels and poorly developed strategies for crisis communication (61).

To summarize, these study findings indicate that people perceived a high and disproportional threat from COVID-19 in the beginning of the pandemic and may underestimate their susceptibility, particularly women. It would be very interesting to get more insight in how the perceived for known and common illnesses change during a pandemic. Unfortunately, no studies on this subject were found.

8.2 Perceived benefits and barriers: outcome expectations

Another important element is what people would expect in terms of the outcome of their health behaviour including expectations regarding availability and quality of health care services and which barriers people expect to encounter. During Ebola, people had experienced that HCW's were absent or unwilling to treat patients with fever and health facilities were dysfunctional due to a diversion of resources and deaths among HCW's (3). Also in the COVID-19 outbreak, a diversion of resources was observed, away from regular programs, for example the TB program (48). Across many LMIC, a diversion of resources affected the quality of maternal and newborn health services (34).

In Sierra Leone, a study was conducted across public health care facilities during the lockdown reporting that a majority of health care workers (HCW) indicated that their facility was poorly prepared caused by insufficient supplies of PPE and hand soap or sanitizer. Only half of the HCWs felt confident to provide medical care for a COVID-19 suspected patient, while they had adequate knowledge and were adherent to preventive methods (37). This indicates that also for COVID-19 related care, quality may have been poor. Another important aspect of the expectations of outcome of care is what happened to patients with confirmed COVID-19. During the Ebola outbreak it was very challenging for people to see their relatives being transported far away to treatment centres and in many cases not being able to conduct funeral ceremonies (3).

For COVID-19, a similar policy was in place: a positive COVID-19 test result meant immediate and unannounced relocation to a treatment centre, away from relatives. The main purpose was to isolate COVID-19 patients, while they were managed in the best possible way with scarcely available equipment like ventilators and oxygen concentrators (31). This policy also applied to all patients, also to the substantial proportion with a mild and asymptomatic disease course (11). During the Ebola outbreak, these policies led to a breakdown of trust between communities and the health care providers, because they were perceived inhumane and undignified (3). These parallel policies with the previous Ebola outbreak may have influenced the perceived benefits negatively and possibly acted as a barrier to seek healthcare.

Additional important factors that may act as barriers in health behaviour are the roles of stigma and fear. As indicated in the beginning of this section, fear is a very central emotion in a pandemic (55). In several studies, fear is described to influence perceptions and health behaviour during a pandemic (3,34,48,58). In a study from Nigeria, participants were asked to rate their level of fear for COVID-19. On average participants rated 7 out of 10 and a quarter of all participants indicated that they did not want to be

associated with someone recovered from COVID-19, indicating stigmatization (62). Among people recovered from Ebola, stigma is also very prevalent and related to experiences of social exclusion, verbal abuse and fear of contagion(63). In relation to healthcare utilization, Ebola survivors who had experienced health care neglect, tended to seek healthcare in the informal and traditional sector (63).

Fear may be a useful emotion in a pandemic, because it is an important driver for behaviour change, for example adherence to public health measures (55). However, fear does not always have the desired effect and may backfire (64). When people perceive a high level of efficacy, fear may have the desired effect, but when a low level of efficacy is perceived it may act as a barrier, leading to defensive or avoiding behaviour (64). During the COVID-19 outbreak, fear had several dimensions, including fear to be infected with COVID-19 when seeking healthcare and fear to be quarantined and isolated from family members when positive (34). During the Ebola outbreak, fear was reported as a main driving factor for a decline in utilization of health care services (3,45).

8.3 Cues to action

The HBM also describes how cues may activate people to seek healthcare including health messages or experiencing symptoms. A study from Cameroon during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic reported that only a minority of their participants (23%) took adequate action to seek healthcare when experiencing multiple COVID-19 symptoms. This hesitation was caused by fear to get infected in the hospital, stigmatization and being misdiagnosed (65). This example highlights that experiencing symptoms may not necessary lead to the desired behaviour.

In general, effective communication is very important during a pandemic since many types of misinformation, fake news and conspiracy theories are circulating (55). During the Ebola outbreak, health messages were disseminated to counteract the denial about the existence of Ebola and conspiracy theories, emphasizing the severity and absence of a treatment or vaccine (66). These messages unintentionally promoted home-based care for Ebola patients in Sierra Leone as people had understood that no treatment was available in health care facilities (66). The same study described how subsequent health messages were designed through a two-way approach with community stakeholders, to maximize the chance to be correctly utilized (66). In addition to this two-way approach, general insights on risk communication stress the importance of a reliable and trustworthy source and emphasis on benefits, protecting others and appealing to a social consensus or moral norm (55).

9. Discussion

The results of the quantitative analysis indicate that the utilization of hospital services was substantially reduced during the LD period in the LHMC and partially normalized to preceding rates of utilization during the post-LD period. Different patterns of under-utilization were observed between different patient groups. General hospital services and services related to maternal health were severely, but temporarily affected. Among the indicators related to child health, we observed a different pattern. Utilization of hospital services was reduced with 88% during the LD and remained 54% below the normal level during the post-LD period. For patients with HIV and/or TB, OPD visits were also significantly reduced and analysis of sputum samples to diagnose TB was even completely discontinued during the LD period. For the patient group with NCD's, utilization of hospital services was substantially reduced during the LD-period and only restored partially in the post-LD period. When comparing acute with non-acute hospital care, both types were equally affected during the LD-period in contrast to the post-LD period when only non-acute services remained under-utilized. This applied particularly to patients attending the OPD for HIV, TB or NCD's, while general OPD attendance levels had restored. The results of the quantitative analysis did not reveal significant differences between utilization of services between male and female patients.

The number of adult patients presenting with respiratory symptoms were included in the analysis to give an indication of the range of COVID-19 suspected patients and associated burden. Since reliable COVID-19 reports at hospital level were not available and cases may have been underreported, this indicator seemed most adequate. During LD and post-LD periods, reductions of respectively 91% and 70% were observed, indicating that a limited number of adult patients with respiratory symptoms visited LHMC.

The most alarming finding is the 88% and 54% reduction of children visiting the OPD with malaria during respectively the LD period and post-LD periods. The LD period coincided with the rainy season when a rise in malaria cases is normally observed. A similar pattern of reduced utilization was seen in children with an ARI. This is worrisome, because malaria and ARI are together responsible for 32% of the underfive deaths in Sierra Leone (67). A possible explanation for this reduction may be found in the similar presentation of children with COVID-19, ARI or malaria. Most children have symptoms such as fever and shortness of breath and based on clinical presentation it is not possible to distinguish between the diseases (41,42). Additionally, the suspicion for COVID-19 in malaria endemic areas is often low and testing in this age group poses challenges (68). For clinicians it may be unclear how to approach under fives with COVID-19 like symptoms (42).

As described in the literature overview, health-seeking behaviour likely changed during the pandemic. Due to widespread misinformation and fear to be associated with COVID-19, to attract COVID-19 and to be stigmatized, parents may avoided regular health care services (34,43). Another report from Sierra Leone reported a significant decrease in the number of diagnosed under-five malaria cases in a community health centre in April 2020, during de lockdown, but not in subsequent months as we observed in the analysis (69). The difference may be explained by local variations in information strategies aiming to reduce misconceptions and promote health behaviour. Another possibility is that parents may have felt more comfortable to seek healthcare in a health centre compared to a hospital.

Ngo *et al* estimated, based on utilization rates during the Ebola outbreak in Sierra Leone, that the underfive population had suffered from 21% of excess mortality, far exceeding the death toll from Ebola in all age groups (70). This illustrates the potential excess mortality in the under-five population during the COVID-19 outbreak. The results of the quantitative analysis show considerable reductions in utilization rates in the under-five population that continued when utilization of other services had restored to normal levels. It is plausible that the under utilization of under-five health services has led to indirect morbidity and mortality, similarly as happened during the Ebola outbreak.

Patients with TB an/or HIV were actively encouraged to extend the intervals between their follow-up visit from 1 to 3 months to alleviate hospitals (48). This would partially explain the reduction in utilization during the LD period in this patient group, but not in the post-LD period, when the normal one-monthly follow-up visits were reinstated. Another possibility for reduced utilization is, similar to the child health indicators, the overlapping symptoms between TB and COVID-19 and altered health-seeking behaviour. The complete discontinuation of sputum sample analysis may me explained by patients with chronic respiratory symptoms avoiding the health system or when visiting the hospital they might have been suspected of COVID-19, tested and not further assessed for other diseases. Another possibility is that laboratory staff may have been hesitant to handle sputum samples and feared to acquire COVID-19. It is not very likely laboratory staff was overburdened with taking COIVD-19 samples, since the overall number of patients with respiratory symptoms was very limited.

Either way, hospital services for patients with or suspected of TB were greatly underutilized during the LD-period. This may reflect a decline in quality of TB services and presumably led to undiagnosed TB cases (48). An analysis on the impact of COVID-19 on TB and HIV services across LMIC's described that the main barriers to access services included fear to get infected with Sars-CoV-2, transportation challenges and movement restrictions (71). The WHO reported that the COVID-19 pandemic caused significant disruptions of TB services, leading to a reduction of 21% of people receiving TB care and an estimated half million excess TB deaths worldwide (72).

The under-utilization of services related to chronic care may be explained by the perceived severity of a disease, which is most likely less for chronic compared to acute hospital care. People perceiving more severity may overcome the fears and barriers of the COVID-19 pandemic more easily compared to patients who have complaints they perceive less urgent en less life threatening. Still, patients suffering from a disease with a more chronic character are in need of healthcare and prolonged withdrawal from treatment may lead to a worsening of their disease or complications. In patients with HIV for example, an interruption of treatment is an important determinant for HIV-related mortality (47). From a public health perspective, it is also not desirable that patients with TB or HIV withdraw from treatment since this may lead to the development of resistant strains.

Surprisingly, the number of adult patients with respiratory complaints (ARI) dramatically reduced during both the LD and the post-LD periods indicated that very few patients with COVID-19 like symptoms utilized health care services. This finding builds further on the recurring pattern in our results showing that patients with diseases who share common symptoms with COVID-19, disproportionally underutilized hospital services. The health messages that were propagated during the pandemic to seek healthcare when experiencing symptoms that may resemble COVID-19, did not seem to have the intended effect. Our study findings point towards an opposite effect, of people avoiding formal health care facilities when having symptoms similar to COVID-19. This is supported by study findings from Cameroon indicating that a majority of study participants did not seek healthcare when experiencing symptoms due to fear and stigma (65). Additionally, a study on excess mortality in Somalia reported that stigma surrounding COVID-19 and fear not being able to see family members once admitted, drove people away from seeking care in hospitals for relatives with COVID-19 like symptoms (73).

During previous outbreaks of Zika and Ebola in West Africa, the healthcare needs of women were not met due to a diversion of resources away from reproductive healthcare towards the emergency response. Based on these experiences, concerns have been expressed about further worsening of gender

inequities during the COVID-19 pandemic (20). In the analysis of the study result, institutional deliveries were reduced with 66% during the LD-period. Although this quickly normalized after the lockdown, many pregnant women did not receive the obstetric care they needed. Based on previous hospital records (table 2), LHCM would expect to attend to roughly 100 women in labour with complications during the three months of the LD-period. Instead, only 34% of women utilized these services, leaving the remaining 66% deprived of specialized care including the possibility to conduct a caesarean section when needed. The resulting morbidity and mortality may go unnoticed when women deliver at home. Potentially, the already high MMR in Sierra Leone (4), may have further increased during the COVID-19 pandemic. This is supported by the findings of a meta-analysis reporting that maternal and foetal deaths have increased since the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly in LMIC's (74).

In the literature overview, fear was repeatedly described as a major barrier in the perceived outcome of health behaviour, because people feared to get infected, stigmatized and isolated (34,65). In the setting of a pandemic, fear or a high risk perception for COVID-19 may be useful because people tend to adhere more to public health instructions (55). Fear may have the opposite effect when people perceive low efficacy levels (64). Additionally, fear was directed towards the health system as people mainly feared to acquire COVID-19 while seeking healthcare. All together, fear is a central emotion in a pandemic and in Sierra Leone may have driven people away from the formal health care system. Similarly to the Ebola outbreak, fear seems to be a main driving factor of underutilization of hospital services (3,21,23,24).

From the beginning of the pandemic severe concerns were expressed if the lockdown measures for COVID-19 would outweigh the indirect damage (33). Certainly when taking into account that containment and closure policies for COVID-19 have been shown to be epidemiologically less effective in LMIC's (75), this is a very relevant question. The findings of this study indicate that under-utilization of hospital services during the lockdown was substantial and presumably led to indirect morbidity and mortality, while the number and burden of COVID-19 cases was limited. Although it is difficult to quantify the indirect effects, when expanding these findings to a national level, there is a very stark contrast with the burden of COVID-19 in Sierra Leone, where at the time of writing, the official statistics counted 4168 confirmed cases and 79 deaths (5). It is very likely that many COVID-19 cases have gone unnoticed since patients with COVID-19 like symptoms avoided the healthcare system. But, even when accounting for underreporting, the burden of COVID-19 in LMIC is estimated to be less compared with HIC (76).

In addition to very strict and possibly disproportionate COVID-19 measures, important opportunities were missed out on. When communication strategies are designed in collaboration with communities, people may had received information that was aligned with their situation, provide reliable information and reduced fear (55). Another important lesson that can be learned from these findings is that many reasons for fear where directly related to the healthcare system. Similar to Ebola, fear and distrust seemed main driving factors for under-utilization of healthcare. This calls for rebuilding trust in the healthcare system and policies applied in outbreak management.

At last, while its was already known from the previous Ebola outbreak that vulnerable groups were disproportionally affected (3), no specific measures were taken to facilitate that pregnant women, under-five children and chronically ill were still able to access care. A particular concern for the on-going pandemic in LMIC is how to approach the common symptomatology of COVID-19, malaria and ARI in under-five children (41). As COVID-19 cases have started to rise in Sierra Leone during the course of 2021 and new variants emerge, these concerns are even more relevant.

9.1 Limitations

The main limitation of the study was that only one institution was included in the analysis and that for some indicators the size was relatively small. Additionally, this institution was located in a rural area. Therefore, these findings may not be generalizable for the whole of Sierra Leone but only for institutions in a comparable (rural) setting. Additionally, it is important to keep in mind that the time frame of interest involved the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic, early 2020 and the period afterwards. Due to the rapid evolving nature of a pandemic, the findings may not be representative for periods later on in the pandemic from 2021 onwards.

Another limitation is that the scope of this thesis is narrowed down to utilization of health care services and health seeking behaviour. The entire array of social, economic and political influences during the pandemic has not been addressed. The HBM is a very useful as a guide to understand health behaviour, but may have its limitations in a pandemic setting, because access to and provision of healthcare services are not addressed. Also, in this study provision of health care services were not assessed, but merely looked at utilization and assumed continued provision of health care services, which may not have been the case. It is however important to realize that coverage of health care services consists of a demand and supply side and in this thesis we explored the demand side by evaluating utilization. Provision of health care services may be compromised by a diversion of resources or shortages of HCW's.

Finally, it was very challenging to provide an accurate and evidence-based description of the scope of COVID-19 in LHMC and Sierra Leone. Since testing for COVID-19 was irregularly available and numerous test results got missing, the statistics on COVID-19 cases in LHMC were incomplete. Therefore, these were not included in the analysis. Instead, all ARI cases in adolescents and adults were included with the additional advantage that unrecognized COVID-19 cases would be included as well. The official statistics of COVID-19 are shown in figure 1, but this may be an under-representation since testing capacity is limited and patients with COVID-19 like symptoms may have avoided the healthcare system. Although not the aim of the thesis, a better understanding of the full scope of COVID-19 infections and associated burden would enable to view under-utilization and subsequent indirect effects during the COVID-19 pandemic in a more accurate perspective.

10. Conclusion and recommendations

The findings of this study show that during the LD-period, hospital services were underutilized by all patient groups within the range between 33 to 88% below the normal level. After the LD period normalization in utilization of services was observed in services with an acute character and services related to maternal health. This however did not apply to all patient groups. Under-five children with malaria or ARI continued to under-utilize health services in the 6-month period after the lockdown 54% below the normal level. Additionally, patients with chronic conditions (HIV, TB, NCD's) utilized non-acute services also below normal levels. Presumably, under-utilization of hospital services led to indirect morbidity and mortality. Within the patient groups that disproportionally under-utilized healthcare services, we observed a pattern of overlap between symptoms with COVID-19. Presumably, fear and stigma were barriers for people to seek healthcare, similarly to the Ebola outbreak.

At all times, the benefits of controlling an infectious disease should be weighed against the indirect damage that is caused. This may be challenging in the acute response when the potential harm caused by the infectious agent is not entirely clear. In this study we touch upon the under-utilization of health services, potentially leading to indirect health damage particularly in vulnerable groups. As the COVID-19 pandemic continues and its direct impact becomes more clear, it is essential to safeguard vulnerable populations, such as under-fives, pregnant mothers and chronically ill from indirect harm.

The main recommendation following the results of this study is to develop strategies and prioritize continued utilization of health services while responding to an outbreak at the same time. Since fear seems a major driving factor for under-utilization, these strategies should focus on risk communication and community engagement to reduce fear and build trust. Of particular concern is the under-five population who often suffer from diseases with COVID-19 like symptoms and in our study mostly under-utilized health care services. This leads to the recommendation to develop a specific strategy aimed at the parents of under-five children to support them in seeking health care when their child falls ill and reduce fear and stigma particularly in this group. Since the COVID-19 pandemic is on going and cases have started to rise again in Sierra Leone in 2021 leading to new restrictions, this remains relevant.

Furthermore the findings of this study stress the importance of evaluating the indirect effects of COVID-19 measures. Without this information unintended harm may go unnoticed and it would be difficult for policy makers to weigh these unintended effects in decisions about measures to control a disease. An additional recommendation is therefore to assess indirect effects on a national scale by evaluating utilization rates, health care provision of non-COVID-19 related services and possibly excess mortality.

11. References

- 1. Desai A. Sierra Leone's long recovery from the scars of war. Vol. 88, Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2010.
- 2. Hare BO. Weak health systems and Ebola. Lancet Glob Heal. 2015;3.
- 3. Elston JWT, Cartwright C, Ndumbi P, Wright J. The health impact of the 2014–15 Ebola outbreak. Public Health. 2017;143:60–70.
- WHO. Trends in maternal mortality 2000 to 2017: estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank Group and the United Nations Population Division. 2019. Available from: https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/maternal-mortality-2000-2017/en/ Accessed July 25, 2021.
- 5. World Health Organization. The Global Health Observatory. Health statistics and health information systems. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/.
- 6. Sierra Leone | Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation [Internet]. Available from: http://www.healthdata.org/sierra-leone Accessed June 5, 2021
- 7. Barr A, Garrett L, Marten R, Kadandale S. Health sector fragmentation: Three examples from Sierra Leone. Global Health. 2019;15(1):1–8.
- 8. Karamagi HC, Tumusiime P, Titi-Ofei R, Droti B, Kipruto H, Nabyonga-Orem J, et al. Towards universal health coverage in the WHO African Region: Assessing health system functionality, incorporating lessons from COVID-19. BMJ Glob Heal. 2021;6(3).
- 9. State House. Talking points by his excellency, Dr Julius Maada Bio, president of the republic of Sierra Leone at the third press conference on COVID-19. Freetown; April 8, 2020. Available from: https://statehouse.gov.sl/statement-by-his-excellency-dr-julius-maada-bio-president-of-the-republic-of-sierra-leone-at-the-third-press-conference-on-covid-19-state-house-freetown-8-april-2020/ Accessed June 5, 2021.
- 10. State House. Broadcast by his excellency, Dr Julius Maada Bio, president of the republic of Sierra Leone, on enhanced public health and safety measures to prevent the corona virus. Freetown; March 18, 2020. Available from: https://statehouse.gov.sl/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Statement-by-His-Excellency-Dr-Julius-Maada-Bio-President-of-the-Republic-of-Sierra-Leone-on-Enhanced-Public-Health-and-Safety-Measures-to-Prevent-Coronavirus.-Freetown-Sierra-Leone-18-March-2020.pdf Accessed June 5, 2021.
- 11. Jin Y, Yang H, Ji W, Wu W, Chen S, Zhang W, et al. Virology, Epidemiology, Pathogenesis, and Control of COVID-19. Viruses. 2020;12(372).
- 12. Dyer O. Covid-19: Africa records over 10 000 cases as lockdowns take hold. BMJ. 2020;369(March):m1439.
- 13. Capano G, Howlett M, Jarvis DSL, Ramesh M, Goyal N. Mobilizing Policy (In)Capacity to Fight COVID-19: Understanding Variations in State Responses. Policy Soc. 2020;39(3):1–24.
- 14. Jones J. An Ethnographic Examination of People 's Reactions to State Led COVID 19 Measures in Sierra Leone. Eur J Dev Res. 2021;(0123456789).
- 15. Statehouse. Talking points by his excellency, Dr Julius Maada Bio, president of the republic of Sierra Leone at the fourth press conference on COVID-19. Freetown; June 23, 2020. Available from: https://statehouse.gov.sl/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Statement-by-His-Excellency-Dr-Julius-Maada-Bio-President-of-the-Republic-of-Sierra-Leone-at-the-Fourth-Press-Conference-on-Covid-19.-Freetown-State-House-23-June-2020.pdf Accessed June 5, 2021.
- 16. World Health Organization. WHO Coronovirus disease (COVID-19) dashboard WHO live world statistics. p. 2020.
- 17. Shadmi E, Chen Y, Dourado I, Faran-Perach I, Furler J, Hangoma P, et al. Health equity and COVID-

19: global perspectives. Int J Equity Health. 2020;19(104):1–16.

- 18. Martinez-Alvarez M, Jarde A, Usuf E, Brotherton H, Bittaye M, Samateh AL, et al. COVID-19 pandemic in west Africa. Lancet Glob Heal. 2020;8(5):e631–2.
- 19. Buonsenso D, Cinicola B, Raffaelli F, Sollena P. Social consequences of COVID-19 in a low resourse setting in Sierra Leone, West Africa. Int J Infect Dis. 2020;97:23–6.
- 20. Gyasi R, Anderson E. Wither are we bound? Rethinking the gendered frailty during COVID-19 pandemic. Public Heal Pract. 2020;(100019)
- 21. Ribacke KJB, Saulnier DD, Eriksson A, Schreeb J Von. Effects of the West Africa Ebola Virus Disease on Health-Care Utilization A Systematic Review. Frontiers in Public Health. 2016;4:1–12.
- 22. Roberton T, Carter ED, Chou VB, Stegmuller AR, Jackson BD, Tam Y, et al. Early estimates of the indirect effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on maternal and child mortality in low-income and middle-income countries: a modelling study. Lancet Glob Heal. 2020;8(7):e901–8.
- 23. Bolkan HA, Bash-Taqi DA, Samai M, Gerdin M, von Schreeb J. Ebola and Indirect Effects on Health Service Function in Sierra Leone. PLoS Curr. 2014;6:2–7.
- 24. Vygen S, Tiffany A, Rull M, Ventura A, Wolz A, Jambai A, et al. Changes in health-seeking behavior did not result in increased all-cause mortality during the Ebola outbreak in Western Area, Sierra Leone. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2016;95(4):897–901.
- Cancedda C, Davis SM, DIerberg KL, Lascher J, Kelly JD, Barrie MB, et al. Strengthening Health Systems while Responding to a Health Crisis: Lessons Learned by a Nongovernmental Organization during the Ebola Virus Disease Epidemic in Sierra Leone. J Infect Dis. 2016;214(Suppl 3):S153–63.
- 26. McQuilkin PA, Udhayashankar K, Niescierenko M, Maranda L. Health-care access during the Ebola virus epidemic in Liberia. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2017;97(3):931–6.
- 27. Huizenga E, Van Der Ende J, Zwinkels N, Jimissa A, Van Der Ende-Bouwman C, Van Rooijen R, et al. A modified case definition to facilitate essential hospital care during Ebola outbreaks. Clin Infect Dis. 2019;68(10):1763–8.
- 28. Lion Heart Medical Centre. LHMC Hospital montly report May 2020 (internal document). 2020.
- 29. Lion Heart Medical Centre. LHMC monthly pharmacy report items usage May / June / July (internal document). 2020.
- Caviglia M, Buson R, Pini S, Jambai A, Vandy MJ, Venturini F, et al. The National Emergency Medical Service Role during the COVID-19 Pandemic in Sierra Leone. Prehosp Disaster Med. 2020;35(6):693–7.
- 31. Dubbink JH, Branco TM, Kamara KB, Bangura JS, Wehrens E, Falama AM, et al. COVID-19 treatment in sub-Saharan Africa: If the best is not available, the available becomes the best. Travel Med Infect Dis. 2020;37.
- 32. Blanchet K, Alwan A, Antoine C, Cros MJ, Feroz F, Amsalu Guracha T, et al. Protecting essential health services in low-income and middle-income countries and humanitarian settings while responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. BMJ Glob Heal. 2020;5(10):1–9.
- 33. Wehrens E, Bangura JS, Falama AM, Kamara KBB, Dubbink JH, Bolkan HA, et al. Primum non nocere: Potential indirect adverse effects of COVID-19 containment strategies in the African region. Travel Med Infect Dis. 2020;35(April):101727.
- 34. Graham WJ, Afolabi B, Benova L, Campbell OMR, Filippi V, Nakimuli A, et al. Protecting hard-won gains for mothers and newborns in low-income and middle-income countries in the face of COVID-19: Call for a service safety net. BMJ Glob Heal. 2020;5(6):1–5.
- 35. Semaan A, Audet C, Huysmans E, Afolabi B, Assarag B, Banke-Thomas A, et al. Voices from the frontline: Findings from a thematic analysis of a rapid online global survey of maternal and newborn health professionals facing the COVID-19 pandemic. BMJ Glob Heal. 2020;5(6).
- 36. Buonsenso D, Iodice F, Sorba Biala J, Goletti D. COVID-19 effects on tuberculosis care in Sierra

Leone. Pulmonology. 2021;(27):67-83.

- 37. Kanu S, James PB, Bah AJ, Kabba JA, Kamara MS, Elleanor CE, et al. Healthcare workers' knowledge, attitude, practice and perceived health facility preparedness regarding covid-19 in sierra leone. J Multidiscip Healthc. 2021;14:67–80.
- 38. Hollander GC Den, Bussink-voorend DM, Janszen EWM. Hoe angst en overheidsbeleid leiden tot indirecte schade voor vrouwen. NTOG. 2020;133. [in Dutch]
- 39. Menendez C, Gonzalez R, Donnay F, Leke RGF. Avoiding indirect effects of COVID-19 on maternal and child health. Lancet Glob Heal. 2020;8(7):e863–4.
- 40. Bussink-Voorend D, Bussink AP, Falama AM, Stekelenburg J. Health indicators of pregnant women in tonkolili district, rural sierra leone. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(11).
- 41. Zar HJ, Dawa J, Bueno G, Castro-rodriguez JA. Challenges of COVID-19 in children in low- and middle-income countries. Paediatr Respir Rev Rev. 2020; 70-74
- 42. Adetola HH, Ishola D, Afolabi MO, Bangura J, Sesay IG, Pearce R, et al. Clinical presentations and management of COVID-19 infected children seen in a district health facility in Kambia, northern Sierra Leone. Pan Afr Med J. 2020;37(Supp 1):28.
- Werner M, Bayoh A. 'We clap if none die': Covid forces hard choices in Sierra Leone. The Guardian . 2021; Available from: https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2021/mar/18/childrens-healthcare-covid-forces-hard-choices-sierra-leone Accessed June 5, 2021.
- 44. Weiss DJ, Bertozzi-Villa A, Rumisha SF, Amratia P, Arambepola R, Battle KE, et al. Indirect effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on malaria intervention coverage, morbidity, and mortality in Africa: a geospatial modelling analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2021;21(1):59–69.
- 45. Plucinski M, Guilavogui T, Sidikia S, Diakite N, Diakite S, Dioubate M, et al. Eff ect of the Ebolavirus-disease epidemic on malaria case management in Guinea, 2014: a cross-sectional survey of health facilities. 2015;(15):1017–23.
- 46. WHO. The potential impact of health service disruptions on the burden of malaria. Global malaria Programme. 2020. 1–38 p. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/the-potential-impact-of-health-service-disruptions-on-the-burden-of-malaria. Accessed June 24, 2021.
- 47. Jewell BL, Smith JA, Hallett TB. Understanding the impact of interruptions to HIV services during the COVID-19 pandemic: A modelling study. EClinicalMedicine. 2020;26:100483.
- 48. Togun T, Kampmann B, Stoker NG, Lipman M. Anticipating the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on TB patients and TB control programmes. Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob. 2020;19(1):1–6.
- 49. Linden A. Conducting interrupted time-series analysis for single- and multiple-group comparisons. Stata J. 2015;15(2):480–500.
- 50. Biglan A, Ary D, Wagenaar AC. The value of Interrupted Time-Series Experiments for Community Intervention Researach. Prev Sci. 2000;176(3):139–48.
- 51. Hudson J, Fielding S, Ramsay CR. Methodology and reporting characteristics of studies using interrupted time series design in healthcare. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2019;19(1):1–7.
- 52. Abraham C, Sheeran P. Chapter 2: The Health Believe Model. In: Conner M, Norman P, editors. Predicting Health Behaviour. Open University Press; 2005. p. 28–80.
- 53. Glanz K, Bishop DB. The role of behavioral science theory in development and implementation of public health interventions. Annu Rev Public Health. 2010;31:399–418.
- 54. Abraham C, Sheeran P. The health belief model. In: Cambridge Handbook of Psychology, Health and Medicine. Cambridge University Press; 2001 [cited 2020 Mar 8]. p. 97–102. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/CBO9780511543579A034/type/book_part
- 55. Bavel JJV, Baicker K, Boggio PS, Capraro V, Cichocka A, Cikara M, et al. Using social and behavioural science to support COVID-19 pandemic response. Nat Hum Behav. 2020;4(5):460–71.

- 56. Sengeh P, Jalloh MB, Webber N, Ngobeh I, Samba T, Thomas H, et al. Community knowledge, perceptions and practices around COVID-19 in Sierra Leone: a nationwide, cross-sectional survey. BMJ Open. 2020;10(9):e040328.
- 57. Kamara FM, Mokuwa EY, Richards P. How villagers in central Sierra Leone understand infection risks under threat of Covid-19. PLoS One. 2020;15(6):1–7.
- 58. Camara BS, Okumura J, Delamou A. Do memories of the Ebola virus disease outbreak influence post-Ebola health seeking behaviour in Guéckédou district (epicentre) in Guinea? A cross-sectional study of children with febrile illness. BMC Public Health. 2020;20(1):1–12.
- 59. Kasozi KI, MacLeod E, Ssempijja F, Mahero MW, Matama K, Musoke GH, et al. Misconceptions on COVID-19 Risk Among Ugandan Men: Results From a Rapid Exploratory Survey, April 2020. Front Public Heal. 2020;8(July):1–10.
- 60. Smith J. Overcoming the 'tyranny of the urgent': integrating gender into disease outbreak preparedness and response. Gend Dev. 2019;27(2):355–69. A
- 61. Okereke M, Ukor NA, Ngaruiya LM, Mwansa C, Alhaj SM, Ogunkola IO, et al. Perspective piece COVID-19 misinformation and infodemic in Rural Africa. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2021;104(2):453–6.
- 62. Habib MA, Dayyab FM, Iliyasu G, Habib AG. Knowledge, attitude and practice survey of COVID-19 pandemic in Northern Nigeria. PLoS One. 2021;16(1 January):1–12.
- 63. James PB, Wardle J, Steel A, Adams J. An assessment of Ebola-related stigma and its association with informal healthcare utilisation among Ebola survivors in Sierra Leone: A cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health. 2020;20(1):1–12.
- 64. Witte K, Allen M. A meta-analysis of fear appeals: Implications for effective public health campaigns. Heal Educ Behav. 2000;27(5):591–615.
- 65. Ngwewondo A, Nkengazong L, Ambe LA, Ebogo JT, Mba FM, Goni HO, et al. Knowledge, attitudes, practices of/towards COVID 19 preventive measures and symptoms: A cross-sectional study during the exponential rise of the outbreak in Cameroon. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2020;14(9):1–15.
- 66. Kinsman J, de Bruijne K, Jalloh AM, Harris M, Abdullah H, Boye-Thompson T, et al. Development of a set of community-informed Ebola messages for Sierra Leone. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11(8):1–20.
- 67. MoHS. Sierre Leone national RMNCAH strategy 2017-2021. 2016. Available from: https://www.afro.who.int/publications/sierra-leone-national-reproductive-maternal-newbornchild-and-adolescent-health. Accessed July 24, 2021.
- Simba J, Sinha I, Mburugu P, Agweyu A, Emadau C, Akech S, et al. Is the effect of COVID-19 on children underestimated in low- and middle- income countries? Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr. 2020;109(10):1930–1.
- 69. Buonsenso D, Iodice F, Cinicola B, Raffaelli F, Sowa S, Ricciardi W. Management of malaria in children under 5-years-old during COVID-19 pandemic in Sierra Leone: a lesson learned? Front Pediatr. 2021;8.
- 70. Ngo TM, Rogers B, Patnaik R, Jambai A, Sharkey AB. The Effect of Ebola Virus Disease on Maternal and Child Health Services and Child Mortality in Sierra Leone, 2014–2015: Implications for COVID-19. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2021;104(3):1085–92.
- 71. Khan MS, Rego S, Rajal JB, Bond V, Fatima RK, Isani AK, et al. Mitigating the impact of COVID-19 on tuberculosis and HIV services: A cross-sectional survey of 669 health professionals in 64 low and middle-income countries. PLoS One. 2021;16(2 February 2021):1–12.
- 72. WHO. Impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic on TB detection and Mortality in 2020. J Chem Inf Model. 2021;53(9):1689–99.
- Warsame A, Bashiir F, Williams C, Vazquez Y, Reeve C, Aweis A, et al. Excess mortality during the COVID-19 pandemic: A geospatial and statistical analysis in Mogadishu, Somalia. BMJ Glob Heal. 2021;6(3).

- 74. Chmielewska B, Barratt I, Townsend R, Kalafat E, van der Meulen J, Gurol-Urganci I, et al. Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on maternal and perinatal outcomes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet Glob Heal [Internet]. 2021;9(6):e759–72.
- 75. Pincombe M, Reese V, Dolan CB. The effectiveness of national-level containment and closure policies across income levels during the COVID-19 pandemic: an analysis of 113 countries. Health Policy Plan. 2021;19:1–11.
- 76. Dondorp AM, Papali AC, Schultz MJ. Recommendations for the management of COVID-19 in low-And middle-income countries. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2021;104(3):1–2.